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In 1977, the appellant underwent surgery in the hope En 1977, I'appelante subit une intervention chirurgi-

of relieving pain which had continued since a surgical cale dans I'espoir de soulager des douleurs qui persistent
operation to the maxilla. The surgery did not solve the depuis uematapi au maxillaire. L'intervention ne
problem and caused anaesthesia dolorosa in her cheek igle pas le probie et cause un phonene d’anests

addition to the facial neuralgia from which she was sie douloureuse dans la joue qui sldputeralgie

already suffering. In 1982, the appellant’s pain became faciale dont elle sajéireed 1982, les douleurs de

more severe and'DB recommended that she have fur- 'appelante s’aggravent encore eBleeDommande

ther surgery to relieve the facial neuralgia. The appellant une intervention additionnelle pour soulager les dou-
agreed but the surgery was unsuccessful. It also had leuralgiques faciales. L'appelante acquiesce mais
serious sequelae. The operation having been a failure, eréitiph chirurgicalec¢houe. De plus, elle laisse des

the appellant brought an action for damages againstquedles importantes. Devanedhec de l'opfation,

Dr B and D L, contending that the operation had served 'appelante intente une action en domres@ss-int’

no purpose and that there had been no consent. With contre BefClL, alEgant l'inutilitt de I'intervention

respect to the second allegation, she asserted that art. 19 et l'absence de consentement. Relatidament
C.C.L.C,, which guarantees inviolability of the human demmé alEgation, elle invoque la violation de
person, had been infringed. She submitted that she 'ar€.d.B.C. qui garantit I'inviolabilig de la per-
learned of the participation of'l, who performed the sonne humaine. Elle soutient qu’elle n'a appris la parti-
most significant part of the surgery, only after the opera- cipation'du, Qui a excug la partie principale de

tion. She also said that she did not give enlightened con- l'intervention, es’appération. Elle indiqueegale-
sent to the operation becausé B allegedly did not ment qu’elle n'a pas dennh consentememclaire a
inform her of D M-N's report on his 1981 consultation, l'epztion puisque le DB ne l'aurait pas inforeeé du

which advised against any further surgery. The Superior rapport de consultatiorividN,édiggé en 1981, qui

Court dismissed the action and the Court of Appeal ecodseillait toute autre intervention chirurgicale. La

affirmed that judgment. Cour sepéure rejette I'action et la Cour d’appel con-
firme ce jugement.

Held: The appeal should be dismissed. The facts Arrét: Le pourvoi est rejet’Les faitsetablis ne sou-
established do not support the appellant’'s arguments and tiennent paet&diqgns de I'appelante et aucune
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this Court would not be justified in intervening with
respect to the assessment of the evidence by the trial
judge.

Although the operation intended to relieve the appel-
lant’s facial pain did not produce the intended result, it
did not seem, before it was performed, to serve no pur-
pose and recommending it to the appellant was not a
professional fault in these circumstances. There were
risks involved in the operation and it was uncertain
whether it would serve any purpose. However, accord-
ing to the evidence accepted by the Superior Court and
the Court of Appeal, this option was a defensible surgi-

cal operation by medical practice standards. The assess-
cale. Les jugements entrepris ont respestprincipes

ments of the decision by'B and D L to recommend
and perform this surgery in the judgments under appeal

intervention de notre @d@gard de I'appciation de
la preuve par le juge deepnstiaince n’est justHe.

Bien que lintervention mm@tigolr soulager les
douleavsaigiques faciales de I'appelante n'ait pas
edtem Esultats voulus, sdicalement, elle n'appa-
raissait pas inutile aanéedCute et la recomman-

a tappelante ne constituait pas une faute profession-
nelle danseleept’contexte. L’agyation comportait
des risques et segtaiilithcertaine. Cependant, sui-
vant la preuve retenue par la&Cmurswgila Cour
d’'appel, ce choix constituait une intervention chirurgi-
efateddble selon les normes de la pratiqueslim’

fondamentaux de la resppneatiitisle dans I'ap-

were consistent with the fundamental principles of med- eciption de la €€ision des D B et L de recommander

ical liability.

On the question of absence of consent, the trial judge

et de pratiquer cette intervention.

Qudlabsence de consentement, le juge de pre-

pointed to the credibility that he gave, generally, to emmiinstance a soulignfa cedibilite qu’il attachait
Dr B’s version, and DB’s statements and explanations, engralement’la version doreg par le DB et, en tes

which coincided to a very large extent with the notes

grande partie, les affirmations et les explications du

found in the medical records. Although the trial judge ' Bxancident avec les notes inscrites dans les dossiers

did not specifically find that DB had informed the

appellant that DL would be present at the surgery, that
finding may be inferred from his analysis, and there is
circumstantial evidence to support that finding. With
respect to the information regarding B-N’s opinion,

the trial judge found that the appellant had received
complete and sufficient information concerning the
nature and risks of the operation and thatNDN’s

report was part of the general information already in the
appellant’s possession about her own case. According to

the evidence accepted by the judge, the appellant agreed

to a risky operation to try to relieve some of the pain

gdicaux. Bien que le juge de premd instance n’ait

pas cansg@tifiquement que le DB avait inforng
I'appelante dedampré du OL & l'intervention, cette
conclusioneginfle 'ensemble de son analyse et est

suppodé par certaingléments de preuve circonstan-

cielle. Qaahinformation relativea’ I'opinion du

" MBN, le juge de preneife instance a conclu que I'ap-
pelante avait iy une information comete et adquate

sur la nature et les risquesdgitioEt que le rap-
port MiNDfaisait partie de I'information ey¥rale
gedgibgga I'appelante sur son propre cas. Selon

la preuve retenue par le juge, I'appelanteeauaecept”

that was making her life unbearable. The physicians’ eraon risqee pour tenter de soulager une partie des

obligation to provide her with information had been
properly performed because it is conceded that all the
risks of this surgery were explained to the appellant.

douleurs qui lui rendaient la vie impossible. L'obliga-
tion d’information ém@as( retdecins avaieté cor-
rectement resngpdisegard puisqu'il est corecE que

tous les risques de cette intervention e@texpliqEsa
'appelante.
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English version of the judgment of the Court Le jugement de la Ceté eendu par
delivered by

LEBEL J — LE JUGE LEBEL —
[. Introduction I. Introduction

The main issue in this appeal relates to consent Ce pourvoi sove principalement un pradtie
to a complex and delicate surgical operation per- de consenteamant ‘intervention chirurgicale
formed by the respondents in €h€c in 1982 to  complexe etlitate excute en 1982a QLebec,
relieve the severe and persistent pain suffered by  par leempmir soulager les douleurs graves et
the appellant, Murielle Marcoux. The appellant persistantes dont souffrait I'appelante Murielle
also questions whether any purpose was served by  Marcoux. Celle-ci remet aussi en caesdd'utilit”
the operation. I'opfation.

The appellant asks that the appeal and action L'appelante demande d’accueillir le pourvoi et
against the respondents for professional liability, l'action en responsapiliifessionnelle direg
which was dismissed by judgments from which  contre les egimu’ont rejeé les jugements
she has appealed, be allowed. Although a case of entrepris. Bien qu'une affaire de ce type soit de
this type is one that may raise important legal natusoulever des questions juridiqgues impor-
issues, such as protection of the inviolability of an  tantes, telles que la protection etgitinde la
individual's person and the requirements in respect  personne et les conditions d'un consentement
of enlightened consent to surgery, the facts estaleclait a une intervention chirurgicale, les faits-
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lished in this appeal do not support the appellant's  blis dans cet appel ne soutiennent mEenes pr’
arguments and this Court would not be justified in  tions de I'appelante et aucune intervention de notre
intervening with respect to the assessment of the  &dégard de I'apciation de la preuve par le
evidence by the trial judge. Accordingly, the juge du psoné serait justéié. En corsjuence,

appeal must be dismissed for the reasons that fol-  I'appektieitréjet” pour les motifs qui suivent.
low.
II. Origin of the Case Il. L'origine de I'affaire

The appellant's medical problems have existed Les prob€mes redicaux de I'appelante durent 3
for many vyears. In 1977, the respondent, depuis de longuessarin 1977a I'Hopital de
D' Leblanc, a neurosurgeon practising ineQe¢, I'Enfant-8susa Quebec, dans I'espoir de soulager
assisted by DBouchard, who was then a neurosur-  des douleurs qui persistaient depuis une interven-
gery resident, performed an operation at the tion chirurgicale au maxillaire, &intila”
Hopital de I'Enfant-8sus in Qabec which con-  DLeblanc, neurochirurgiea Quebec, assistpar
sisted of sectioning the fibres of the trigeminal  le Bdbuchard, alorsesident en neurochirurgie,
nerve, in the hope of relieving pain which had con-  pratiqua ureratph consistanf “couper les
tinued since a surgical operation to the maxilla.  fibres du nerf trijumeau. Cettatiop”visaita’
The purpose of this operation was to stop the pain etardes douleurs qui irradiaient de laamdire.
radiating from the jaw. Unfortunately, the surgery = Malheureusement, linterventioregie pas le
did not solve the problem, but in fact caused old et causaemie un pehonene d'anest
Ms. Marcoux to experience analgesia dolorosa in  sie douloureuse dans la joue qui sajauta °
her cheek, in addition to the facial neuralgia from evnalgie faciale dont souffraitegil Mme Marcoux.
which she was already suffering.

In the spring of 1980, the appellant became a Au printemps 1980, I'appelante passa sous leé
patient of D Bouchard. For some years, the medi-  soins élB&uchard. Pendant quelques ees;
cal teams at the ¢pital de I'Enfant-85us tried a  leequipes radicales de I'dpital de I'Enfant-
variety of treatments and medications to relieve theesug ‘essayent des traitements et desditations
appellant’s pain. Some of these were intended to esadur soulager I'appelante. On tenta de traiter
treat her neurological problems, and others to treat ottas€s proldmes neurologiques, tamtles
the disorders of her maxillae and maxillary joints.  pathologies de ses maxillaires et de leurs articula-
Her hospital file confirms that she was there on  tions. Le dossier dgitdhtonfirme d'ailleurs
many occasions for consultations and a variety of  des visites multiples pour des consultations et des

treatments. traitements divers.

In 1981, on the suggestion of some physicians at En 1981,a" la suggestion de certainsedgcins 5
the Hipital de I'Enfant-85sus, the appellant con-  de 8pifal de 'Enfant-85us, I'appelante consulta
sulted specialists in Morgal, and specifically a Montgal, notamment aups du D Molina-

D' Molina-Negro. Like D Bouchard at that time, Negro. Comme leBducharda’ cetteepoque, ce
he advised her against any further surgery. derréeomnkeilla toute autre intervention chirur-
gicale.
6

In 1982, the appellant's pain became more En 1982, les douleurs de I'appelante s’aggrav"
severe. Eventually, DBouchard recommended to  rent encore. Finalement,"I8dDchard recom-
his patient that she undergo a second operation.  n@asdgatiente une intervention additionnelle.
The purpose of that operation was to section the Il s’agissait de sectionner des filaments nerveux
nerves that had survived the 1977 operation, to  qui auraiergcsiau’intervention de 1977, afin
relieve the facial neuralgia. However, he did not de soulageevealgie faciale. Il n'esgrait pas,
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expect that he could relieve the anaesthesia  cependant, soulager d'sirestiduloureuse.
dolorosa. Ms. Marcoux agreed. The consent form  Madame Marcoux a=auies, formulaire de
signed before the operation indicated that consentememt aigmt I'ogration indiquait que
D' Bouchard would be the surgeon. Nevertheless, 'l@&duchard serait le chirurgien. Toutefois, le
Dr Leblanc participated in the operation and it was " LEblanc participaa T'opération en effectuant la
he who sectioned the nerves. The surgery was  section des filaments nerveux. L'intervention
unsuccessful and did nothing to relieve the pain. lechoua et n'apporta aucun soulagement aux dou-
also had serious sequelae. The cerebellum was leurs. De plus, elle laisssquikess impor-
damaged, causing balance problems and tremors in  tantes. Une atteinte au cervelet provoqua des
Ms. Marcoux’s right hand, which she is now una-  troublegjdilibre et des tremblemerdsla main
ble to use. As a result, she was forced to give up  droite dAtMArcoux perdit alors l'usage. Elle
her job as a teacher with the Commission des dut, eregoesce, abandonner son emploi d’en-
écoles catholiques de ©léc, and most of the  seignaatéa’ Commission descoles catholiques
outside activities that she had continued despite  deb€uet la plupart des actiast’extrieures,
her health problems. gu'elle avait cons==s’en dpit de ses probhes

de sarg’

The operation having been a failure, she brought Devant échec de I'opfation, elle entama une
an action for damages against Bouchard and  poursuite en dommages##@tt contre le
Dr Leblanc. She contended first that the operation " Bduchard et le D Leblanc. Elle invoqua
had served no purpose. In her opinion, dabord I'inetii€ I'interventionA son avis, le
Dr Bouchard should never have recommended the" BdDchard n’aurait jamaisudecommander cette
operation, which he should have known would emtion qu'il devait savoir comglément inutile.
serve absolutely no purpose. In addition to what  S’ajemta ce quietaita I'origine le motif prin-
was originally the main reason for the action, there  cipal de la poursuite, deux moyensura&ib-
were two arguments based on absence of consent.  sence de consentement.

The appellant began by asserting that art. 19 L'appelante invoqua d’abord la violation de
C.C.L.C., which guarantees the inviolability of the  Tl'art. £c.B.C. qui garantit I'inviolabilig de la

human person, had been infringed: personne humaine :
19. The human person is inviolable. 19. La personne humaine est inviolable.
No one may cause harm to the person of another Nul ne peut porter atteimtersonne d’autrui sans

without his consent or without being authorized by law son consentement ou saasaytdrie par la loi.
to do so.

The appellant submits that she learned of L’appelante soutient gu’elle n’avait appris la
D' Leblanc’s participation only after the operation.  participation du_&€blanc qu'apes I'opgration.
She alleges that 'mBouchard never informed her  Le" Bouchard ne l'aurait jamais infoea” que
that his colleague would perform the most signifi-  son @efeXcuterait la partie principale de I'in-
cant part of the surgery, sectioning the nerves, and  tervention, soit la section des nefrfisellarie
that as a result DLeblanc performed the surgery  aurait alors pdd@ I'opération hors de sa con-
without her knowledge or consent, which infringes  naissance et sans son consentement. Il aurait ainsi
her right to inviolability of the person, and should paatteintea’l'intégrité de la personne de I'appe-
be held liable for all the consequences of an opera- lante et degmmhdre de toutes les cenrs’
tion that served no purpose and even caused harm.  quences de @ett®rgpihutile et rafme nuisi-

It is conceded, however, that the surgical technique  ble, bien qu’iet&itadmis que la technique
itself was beyond reproach. @ptoire en tant que telle @t impeccable.
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Ms. Marcoux also argues that she did not give Madame Marcoux plaideegalement qu'elle 10

enlightened consent to the operatiof.Hduchard  n’avait pas doende consentemertclai® a son
allegedly did not inform her that'DMolina-Negro, ogration. Le D Bouchard ne I'aurait pas infoea”

a Monteéal neurologist, had sent him a report on  que l1évidlina-Negro, neurologua Mont€al,

the consultation which strongly advised against lui avait transmis un rapport de consultation qui
any further surgery. Had she been aware of thateconsSeillait fermement toute autre intervention
opinion, she would never have consented to the chirurgicalieelle” connu cette opinion qu’elle
surgery. This is the second ground on which she  n'aurait jamais coaskintier'vention. Pour ce
claims that the respondents are liable for profes-  motif aussi, la resporszibild professionnelle
sional negligence. des intem’se trouverait engag.

Dr. Bouchard and Dr. Leblanc denied these alle- Les docteurs Bouchard et Leblanc on¢ giés 11
gations and strongly contested the claim. Their egations et contestfermement la demande.
view is that the operation was medically justified, = Selon eux, l'intervention se justifiadicaié-
despite having been a failure. The statement of  ment, enalgnechec. La dfense soutient de
defence also submits that the plaintiff was  plus que la demanderegsamBornmee tant de la
informed both that DLeblanc would be present gs€nce du DLeblanc que des conclusions du
and of D Molina-Negro’s conclusions, before the  BDlolina-Negro avant l'intervention. Elle aurait
surgery, and alleges that she received all the infor- cu teytes les informationsenéssaires pour don-
mation that she needed in order to give enlightened  ner un consentaiaggtet valide et sauvegar-
and valid consent and protect her right to inviola-  der son drbintégritt de sa personne. La pour-
bility of the person, and accordingly that there was  suite ne serait donc pas famdiroit.
no basis for the action in law.

[ll. Judicial History [ll. Historique judiciaire

A. Superior Court A. La Cour supérieure

The case was heard by Martin J. of the Superior Le juge Martin de la Cour sepeure entendit le 12
Court who conducted a detailed review of the evi-  @sodpes une revueddaillée de la preuve, il
dence and found that the appellant had not estab-  conclut que I'appelante n’agtbpdnutilite
lished that the surgery had served no purpose. The  derdibpi chirurgicale. Les inties avaient de
respondents had good reason to believe that there  bonnes raisons de croire que certaines fibres ner-
were some nerve fibres that were continuing to  veuses continuaient de transmettre la douleur pro-
transmit the pain originating in the right side of the  venant denlifdce droite de l'appelante. En
appellant’s face. In all probability, if other compe-  toute probahiliautres chirurgiens comfgnts,
tent surgeons had had to deal with the same  coeBomti refne dossier clinique, auraient
clinical case they would have adopted a course of  adopt parti semblable celui des intires.
action similar to what was done by the respon-  Ceux-ci nauraient pas alors commis de faute pro-
dents. He held that the respondents had committed  fessionnelle en proposaatitodratiqaé en
no professional fault by proposing the surgery per- ecediibre 1982.
formed in December 1982.

Martin J. considered the parties’ contradictory Devant les versions contradictoires des partié@’
versions of the substance of their discussions  cu@mteneur de leurs discussions avant l'inter-
before the surgery and found thdatBbuchard was  vention, le juge Martin reconnut que le
generally credible. He preferred his version of ' Bduchardetait ggréralement adible. Il pegfé-
those events to the appellant’s. The judge added rait sa versi@vaesmentsa celle de l'appe-
that although it was DLeblanc who sectioned the  lante. Le juge ajouta geenensi le D Leblanc
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nerves and the trigeminal at the time in question,  avaitepéoeh temps principad la section des
D' Bouchard had still been responsible for the  nerfs et du trijumeau’ Bolxhard avait con-
operation, as the surgeon. It was he who proposed e darnésponsabikt'de I'ogration comme chi-
the surgery, made the incision and performed the rurgien. Il avait grdpo&rvention, pratiga”
preparatory work. As even the plaintiff acknowl-  lincision et pmdt” au travail peparatoire.
edged, the surgical technique seemed to meet the = Comme le necqoéma la poursuite, la tech-
professional standards. The trial judge was also of  niqeeatgpfe paraissait conforme aux normes
the view that the appellant had in any case been  professionnelles. Le premier juge a awssi estim’
adequately informed that'Reblanc would be pre-  que, de touteda, I'appelante avait suffisam-
sent and what his role would be. In his opinion, ment inéende la mSence et duolé du
she had consented to the surgery with full knowl- T LEblanc.A son avis, elle aurait conseati’opé-
edge of the risks, the relatively poor chance of suc-  ration en pleine connaissance de ses risques, de la
cess and the reservations thdt Bouchard had  faiblesse relative des chances desetdesati-
already expressed. 'DBouchard had given his  cences que feBduchard avait €fa exprin€es.
patient all the information a competent neurosur-  Ce dernier avait comraunisg patiente toutes
geon was required to provide her with in the cir- les informations qu’un neurochirurgierteninp”
cumstances of the case. Accordingly, the Superior  devait lui transmettre dans les circonstances de
Court dismissed the action. I'affaire. En cegaénce, la Cour sapéure rejeta

la poursuite.

B. Court of Appeal, [1999] R.R.A. 447 B.La Cour d’appel, [1999] R.R.A. 447

The appellant raised three grounds of appeal, L'appelante souleva trois moyens d’appel, dont
including two relating to consent to the operation.  deux portaient sur le consenterfignerven-
First, the chief surgeon,'eblanc, had never per-  tion. D’abord, le principal chirurgien, le
sonally obtained her consent to the operation. ' Léblanc, n’avait jamais obtenu personnellement
D' Bouchard had never informed her that his col-  son consenteni&ntervention chirurgicale. Le
league would be present or of what his role would " BBuchard ne I'avait inforeé ni de la m@Sence
be. Second, she had not given enlightened consent  rolelde son coligue. En outre, elle n'aurait
to the operation, DBouchard not having provided  pas denoh consentemerdclai® a l'interven-
her with adequate information, in that he failed to tion, faute d'information suffisante de la part du
disclose that the neurologist she had consulted,’ Bdbchard, qui ne lui avait pasvélé que le neu-
D' Molina-Negro, had advised against the opera-  rologue qu’elle avait ayriseull'Molina-Negro,
tion. And third, she repeated her argument that awedbuiSeilE I'opération. Elle plaida auss °
because she was not informed thdt 2blanc  nouveau que I'absence d’information sur le- pr’
would be present and would participate, her right sence et la participation’ dieldlanc avait
to inviolability of the person had been unlawfully  entélune atteinte é§alea I'intégrité de sa per-
infringed, contrary to art. 1&.C.L.C. sonne, contrairemerat 'art. 19C.c.B.C.

For the reasons stated by Brossard J.A., the Pour les motifs expries par le juge Brossard, la
Court of Appeal did not accept these arguments  Cour d’appel ne retint pas ces moyens et rejeta le
and unanimously dismissed the appeal. On the  powavbinanimig. Sur l'inutilitt de I'ogEra-
question of whether any purpose had been served tion, la Cour d'appel s’en rapjagmpaciation
by the operation, the Court of Appeal relied on the  @esotgnages edicaux et de la preuve d'ex-
assessment of the medical testimony and the expert  pert. Sur la base de celle-ciel'dautilibter-
evidence. Based on that assessment, the appellant  vention n’auratépeEmontee, et la Cour
had failed to establish that the operation had served  d’appel devait respecter les constatations de fait du
no purpose, and the Court of Appeal had to defer  premier juge. Ainsi, selon la presestprpar
to the trial judge’s findings of fact. Thus, on the les parties, I'intervention chirurgicale se justifiait
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evidence presented by the parties, although the edicalement et ne sauraitré qualifée d'inutile,
operation may have proved to be completely inef-  neatgn inefficaci:

fective, it was medically justified and could not be

described as having served no purpose.

In addition, Dr. Leblanc’s participation in the Par ailleurs, la participation du'l.eblanc a 16
surgery did not mean that there had been a breach  lintervention n’auraibé@atatine violation de
of art. 19C.C.L.C. In the opinion of Brossard J.A., lart. 1€.cB.C. Selon le juge Brossard,
Ms. Marcoux had given her consent to an opera- M€ Mlarcoux aurait dorsm’son consentemert °
tion performed by a team which, to her knowledge,  une intervention chirurgicale pagquipe quia
included D Leblanc. sa connaissance, comprenait 'le_&blanc.

However, on the question of Molina-Negro’s Toutefois, en examinant la question du rapport’
report, Brossard J.A. stated the opinion that the  duMBlina-Negro, le juge Brossard exprima
appellant had not been informed of his recommen-  l'avis que I'appelante n'avatepegormée de

dations. He found that the trial judge had commit-  ses recommandations. Il reprocha au premier juge
ted a patent error by disregarding the appellant’'s  d’avoir commis une erreur manifestartant”
assertions that she was unaware of NIblina-  l'affirmation de I'appelante qu’elle ignorait I'opi-
Negro’s opinion when she consented to the surgery  nion 'dividina-Negro lorsqu’elle avait con-

in December 1982. However, he concluded at seiibpération de dcembre 1982. Cependant,

p. 471 that this error was not fatal, since il coneuga 'p. 471 que cette erreuretdit pas

Ms. Marcoux would have consented to the opera- etemhinante parce que™ Marcoux aurait con-

tion in any case, regardless of the legal standard a&d&ofération de toute fan, quelle que soit la

used to assess her consent: norme juridique ediljgdur apmcier son con-

sentement :

[TRANSLATION] | am of the opinion, on the record as a Je suis d'avis que le dossier dans son ensembile [. . .] ne
whole . . ., that there is no doubt that [the plaintiff] laisse aucun doute quant au consentement i aurait
would have consented, even if she had been aware of edmmrila demanderesse]lemé au courant de I'opi-

the negative opinion of DMolina-Negro in September nioregéativeemise par le DMolina-Negro en septem-

1981. | am of the opinion that, both objectively and sub- bre 1981. Je suis d'avis que, tant sur le plan objectif que
jectively, the appellant would inevitably have consented sur le plan subjectif, 'appelante awvigétbiament
to the surgery performed in December 1982. conseidi chirurgie de efembre 1982.

In objective terms, according to Brossard J.A., Sur le plan objectif, selon le juge Brossard, 138
the evidence established that the appellant had petabéssait que I'appelandit de moins en
been increasingly unable to tolerate her pain. Any  moins capable d’endurer ses douleurs.eEn cons’
reasonable person in her situation would therefore  quence, toute personne raisonnable, dans sa situa-
have opted for the destructive surgery, with its  tion, auraé pptir la chirurgie destructive, avec
inherent risks and chances of success, of which she  des risqueenishet des chances de @scc’
was aware and of which she had been adequately  qu’elle connaissait et dont et adftsam-
informed, rather than agree to continue living with  ment infmnplubt que d’'accepter de continuer
that kind of pain. a'vivre en supportant lesemes douleurs.

In addition, in subjective terms, Brossard J.A. De plus, sur le plan subjectif, le juge Brossard®
found that the appellant had consultedNblina-  constata que [I'appelante avait corsultie
Negro in 1983 on the question of whether she ' Malina-Negro en 1983 sur I'opportuaitd’'une
should have another operation that had been rec- eratiph additionnelle, recommaael par un chi-
ommended by a dental surgeon to treat her maxil-  rurgien dentaire, pour traiter somemerobl
lofacial problem. Despite the strong opinion ini-  maxillo-facial. Malgopinion fermea’l'origine,
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tially stated by D Molina-Negro, who advised  du'DMolina-Negro qui éconseillait alors toute

against any type of surgery at that time, the appel-  forme de chirurgie, 'appelante subit une nouvelle
lant had another operation on her maxilla, which  chirurgie du maxillaire qui aurait d'ailleers am”
apparently provided her with partial relief. kopartiellement soetat.
IV. Relevant Legal Provisions IV. Dispositions pertinentes
Civil Code of Lower Canada Code civil du Bas Canada

19. The human person is inviolable. 19. La personne humaine est inviolable.

No one may cause harm to the person of another Nul ne peut porter atieiqtersonne d’autrui sans

without his consent or without being authorized by law son consentement ou swasaytorie par la loi.
to do so.

Civil Code of Québec, S.Q. 1991, c. 64 Code civil du Québec, L.Q. 1991, ch. 64

10. Every person is inviolable and is entitled to the 10. Toute personne est inviolable et a deo&on ing-
integrity of his person. get”

Except in cases provided for by law, no one may Sauf dans lesesass pr la loi, nul ne peut lui por-
interfere with his person without his free and enlight- ter atteinte sans son consentementeltaEet
ened consent.

V. Analysis V. Analyse

A. Argument of the Parties A. Les moyens des parties

The appellant makes the same arguments againstL'appelante attaque les jugements de la Cour
the judgments of the Court of Appeal and the  d'appel et de la CoerisufE sur la base des
Superior Court as she had made unsuccessfully inemes moyens gu’elle a artiegl'sans sues jus-
the past. First, she raises the issue of whether any a mgsent. D’abord, elle sceNe la question de
purpose had been served by the operation. In her  [lirutiBtTinterventionA son avis, cette inter-
view, it could not have relieved her pain and vention ne pouvait soulager ses douleurs et n'au-
should not have been recommended to her. Sec- raituplas&fe recommarek. Ensuite, elle met
ond, she questioned the adequacy and validity of  en cause la suffisance et la #@aliddhsente-
the consent she gave to the operation. ment qu'elle aedbfiopération.

The arguments on which the appellant focused Les moyens principauxedelopgs devant notre
in this Court related to the issue of consent. The  Cour portent sur le consentement. Le premier
first was that the respondents violated art. 19  moyen plaide une violation de I'artCIORIG.
C.C.L.C. No one may be operated on without con-  Aucune intervention chirurgicale ne peut avoir lieu
sent which must be given not only for the opera-  sans un consentement. Celui-ci porte, non seule-
tion itself, but also in respect of who will perform  ment sur &@ion comme telle, mais aussi sur
it. The patient must be informed of who the main  son auteur. Le patiergtoiinforn€ de I'iden-
actors in an operation will be, thus consent with e t€s principaux acteurs d’uneeoation chirur-
knowledge that they will be participating. In the  gicale et ainsi consentir en connaissance @e cause °
case at bar, the appellant asserts that she was never  leur participation. & |'éappelante n’'aurait
informed that D Leblanc would be doing the  jamait informée que le DLeblanc ercuterait
nerve section, even though that was the most le travail de section des s, sncelui-ci
important and critical part of the operation. She  constituait la partie principale et critiqueate I'op”
therefore submits that 'CLeblanc’s participation  ration. La participation du Deblanc repesente-
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was an unauthorized act that violated a fundamen-  rait un acte noneugairigiolerait une obliga-

tal obligation to protect the inviolability and auton-  tion fondamentale dsepvation de l'irggrité et

omy of the person. The surgeon should therefore  de I'autonomie de la personne. Ainsi, le chirurgien
be liable for all the consequences of this unlawful  devraitondre de toutes les ceasiences de
operation, despite the fact that there was no faultin  cette interventagald|” malge” 'absence de

the surgical technique properly speaking. faute dans la techniquataipé proprement dite.

The second argument on the issue of consent Par ailleurs, le second moyen relatif au conserf3
was that the Court of Appeal erred in its conclu-  tement remet en cause les conclusions de la Cour
sion regarding the information that the appellant  d’appel quéiitformation reue par I'appelante
was given about DMolina-Negro’s opinion, and  au sujet de I'opinion duNdolina-Negro et quant
in concluding that she would have given consentin  au consentement qu'elle awesitngpmént
any event if she had been aware of that opinion at eloda”toute feqn, si elle l'avait connue en
the time. D Molina-Negro’s opinion was a key  temps utile. L’'opinion duNDlina-Negro restait
factor in the decision she had to make. His strong el@mént-of dans cette prise deedsSion. Sa
negative recommendation would have dissuaded forte recommandatiative’ l'aurait dissuad
her from having the operation suggested by de se sounzetfietervention suggfée par le
D' Bouchard. Having failed to obtain the enlight- " Bouchard. En l'absence d'un consentement
ened consent of his patient, he is liable, jointly andeclaiié de sa patiente, celui-@pondrait des dom-
severally with his colleague 'CLeblanc, for the  mages subis par I'appelante, solidairement avec

injury suffered by the appellant. son cai, le D Leblanc.

The quantum of damages is not in issue. On that Le montant des dommagesérifs ne fait pas 24
point, the evidence clearly establishes that the [I'objet de discugsimmtégard, la preuvetablit
operation caused the appellant significant harm, in ~ clairement querdtigri a caws’un pgjudice
that she became incapable of working and engag- impatéiappelante qui est devenue inapte au
ing in numerous activities. travail atde nombreuses actie#’

25

The respondents took the same positions on the Les intimés ont maintenu les emies positions
law as they had argued at trial. They also stressed  de droit qu'eregransfance. lls insisterga-
the importance of the role of the trial judge in  lement sur I'importanceotfu dd juge de pre-
respect of findings of fact and in asserting that emmiinstance dans lee#tmination des faits et
there was no valid reason to review those findings,  qadifgbsence de tout motif valable deexa-
particularly with respect to the credibility of the = men, notamment qadatcedibilité des parties.
parties.

With all this in mind, | will begin by addressing  Dans ce contexte, j'aborderai d’abord successf®
the various arguments on the question of whether  vement les moyens eeltifilite de 'ogEra-
the operation served any purpose. | will then tion. Ensuite, je paad&aamen des probines
examine the problems raised by the appellant's relatifs au consentement de I'appelante.
consent.

B. Purpose Served by the Operation B. L'utilité de I’ opération

In order to appreciate the argument relating to L'appréciation du moyen relati 'exécution de 27
whether the operation should have been per- efafidn exige la comphension de la nature de
formed, we need to understand the nature of the etatjn entreprise et de la pathologie de I'appe-
operation and of the appellant’s disorder. Since the  lante. Depuis l'intervention de 1977, I'appelante
operation was performed in 1977, the appellanttait atteinte de douleurs intenses et constantes qui
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had suffered from severe and continuing pain, aris-ecodlaient de deux sources. D'abord, ummit’
ing from two sources. First, she experienced anaes-enend’anestisie douloureuse, consta’la suite

thesia dolorosa, which first occurred after the 1977
surgery and originated in the brain itself. Moreo-
ver, facial neuralgic pain radiated from the max-
illa. The operation recommended by Bouchard

de l'intervention chirurgicale de 1977, trouvait son

origine dans le cerveauelnemDe plus, des
douleumvraigiques faciales
maxillaire.

irradiaient du

L'opfation recommare¥ par le

in 1982 was not meant for the anaesthesia dolorosa” BobDchard en 1982 ne visait pas le type de-ph”

type of phenomenon. It was clearly understood that
sectioning the remaining nerves would have no
impact on that pain. The operation was intended to
relieve another type of pain: the respondents’
hypothesis was that the pain was being transmitted
by a number of nerves that the 1977 operation had
not succeeded in sectioning. There were risks

emend’anestsie douloureuse. |ktait bien
compris que la section des filaments nerveux res-
tants n’aurait aucun impact sur ces douleurs.
blgpion entendait soulager une autreegatie

de douleurs, soit celles qui, seloneldeypattt

nue par lessnsmfransmettaient par des fibres
nerveuses (ueratiop” de 1977 n’avait pas

involved in that operation, and it was uncertain eussia couper. Cette @pation comportait des ris-

whether it would serve any purpose. However,

according to the evidence accepted by the Superior

Court and the Court of Appeal, this option was a
defensible surgical operation by medical practice
standards.

ques. Soredthtit incertaine. Cependant, sui-
vant la preuve retenue par la &€@ursigi’par

la Cour d'appel, ce choix constituait une interven-

tion chirurgicefiendable suivant les normes de

la pratiqueeadicale.

The assessments of the respondents’ decision to Les jugements entrepris ont resgeds prin-

recommend and perform this surgery in the judg-
ments under appeal was consistent with the funda-
mental principles of medical liability. The courts

must of course assess expert medical evidence, as

cipes fondamentaux de la respensghititie
dans d@ppon de la écision des intie$ de

recommander et de pratiquer cette intervention.

Les tribunaux doiversva@ueslés expertises

they must assess any expert evidence. However, itedigales comme toute preuve d’'experts. Cepen-

is not their role to decide which of the therapeutic

dant, il ne leur appartient pas d'arbitrer des choix

options presented is the right one; that determina- eragfgéutigues qui demeureat l'interieur des

tion falls within the parameters of good medical or
surgical practice. (See, for example, J.-L.
Baudouin and P. Deslaurierta responsabilite
civile (5th ed. 1998), at pp. 851-5Ptopital gé&-
néral de la région de I’ Amiante Inc. v. Perron,
[1979] C.A. 567, at pp. 572-73er Lajoie J.A,;
Lapointe v. Hopital Le Gardeur, [1992] 1 S.C.R.
351, at pp. 361-64er L'Heureux-Dulg J.)

pataes d'une bonne pratiqueedicale ou chi-
rurgicale (voir, par exemple, J.-L. Baudouin et P.
Deslauriers]a responsabilité civile (5 éd. 1998),
p. 851-852; Hopital général de la région de
I’ Amiante Inc. c. Perron, [1979] C.A. 567, p. 572-
573, le
Le Gardeur, [1992] 1 R.C.S. 351, p. 361-364, le
juge L’Heureux-Dudy.

juge Lajoie;Lapointe c. Hopital

The appellant’s arguments in support of the con- Les arguments de I'appelante sur l'inugélitie
tention that the operation served no purpose are efajwn reposent sur une confusion que l'on

based on confusion, particularly on the part of her
expert witness, DMolina-Negro. When consulted
several months after the failure of the operation,

retrouve notamment chez son expéviplied

Negro. Consutilielqgues mois ags I'échec de
dragion, celui-ci pan&“avoir compris que le

D' Molina-Negro seems to have thought that " BDuchard et le DLeblanc avaient pratigul'in-

D' Bouchard and DLeblanc did the operation to

relieve the anaesthesia dolorosa being experienced,

and this would have served absolutely no purpose.
However, the operation was done for a different

tervention pour soulager enpiéne d'anest

sie douloureuse, ce gutalwmaihpEtement
inutile. OrrBtiph avait une autre fin, soit le
soulagement des dowerakyigues. Au prazs,
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purpose: to relieve the neuralgia. At trial, Ié& Bolina-Negro a d'ailleurs corcE, en con-
D' Molina-Negro admitted, on cross-examination,  tre-interrogatoire, qu'il qualifiait etain
that he described the operation as ineffective rather  d'inefficacet gjug d'inutile.

than as having served no purpose.

The operation did not produce the intended L'opération ne donna pas leesdltat voulu. 30
result. From the medical standpoint, it did not editalement, elle ne paraissait pas inutile avant
seem, before it was performed, to serve no pur- etre'éecute. La recommanderune patiente ne
pose. Recommending it to a patient was not a pro-  constituait pas une faute professionnelle dans le
fessional fault in the circumstances of this case. contexte de cette affaire. Le premier moyen de
The appellant’s first argument therefore fails. 'appelante doit @chouder.

C. Consent to the Surgery C. Le consentement & I’intervention chirurgicale

Both art. 19C.C.L.C., now art. 10C.C.Q., and L'article 19 C.c.B.C., que reprend maintenant 31
s. 1 of theCharter of Human Rights and Free- l'art. 10 C.c.Q., comme dailleurs l'art. 1 de la
doms, R.S.Q., c. C-12, guarantee the fundamentaCharte des droits et libertés de la personne,
right of every individual to inviolability of the per- L.R.Q., ch. C-12, garantit le droit fondamental de
son. No matter how necessary a medical treatment  toute personne au respect degisen Totite
may be, any medical treatment, and most espe-ecessaire qu'elle puissetré, une intervention
cially surgery, is a breach of what is, as a rule, the edioale, et surtout chirurgicale, comporte une
inviolability of an individual's person. That is why  atteingel'integritt d’'une personne, en principe
there must be consent, which the courts required to  inviolabley Korécessié” d’'un consentement
be enlightened consent. (See R. P. Kouri and S.  que la jurisprudeneelagét (Voir R. P. Kouri
Philips-Nootens,Le corps humain, I'inviolabilité et S. Philips-Nootend,e corps humain, I'inviola-
de la personne et le consentement aux soins  hilité de la personne et le consentement aux soins
(1999), at pp. 7&t seq. and 213t seq.; L. Potvin,  (1999), p. 71 et suiv., et p. 213 et suiv.; L. Potvin,
L’ obligation de renseignement du médecin: Etude  L’obligation de renseignement du médecin: Etude
comparée du droit québécois, frangais et du com-  comparée du droit québécois, frangais et du com-
mon law canadien (1984), at p. 10.) Surgery is also mon law canadien (1984), p. 10.) L'intervention
based on the principle that the relationship with a  chirurgicale repose aussi sur le principe que la
physician or surgeon is a deeply personal one. That  relation avec adecim” ou un chirurgien
fact is expressed in the traditional vocabulary of = demeure prefoedf personnelle. Le vocabu-
the law, which says that an agreement for medical laire traditionnel du droit exprimeeaéitteen
care must be madtuitu personae, with a spe-  affirmant que le contrat de soinedibaux doit
cific person in mind. A patient will often wish to etré concluintuitu personae, en considiation
see a particular physician or to be handled by a  d'une persoeciigpe. Souvent un patient veut
particular, clearly identified surgeon. In the case of  voir tetlecin, se confiea tel chirurgien, bien
surgery, the patient is entitled to know who the idestifdans le cadre d’'une intervention chirur-
main actors in the operation will be. However, that  gicale, il a le droit de wmnradentitt des
obligation would not extend to the usual secondary  acteurs principaux de l'intervention. Cette obliga-
players who are present during surgery, including  tion m¢emsdrait pas toutefois aux auxiliaires
anaesthetists, nurses, and physicians in training,  coutumiers en chirurgie, tels que lesistessth”
such as residents and interns. les infimag ou les edecins en cours de forma-
tion, comme lesasidents ou internes.
Emergency situations may occur, and team or Des situations d'urgence peuvent seseriter, 32
group medical practices have developed, as we see  des pratiquedetene erequipe ou de groupe
in this case. However, the principle of enlightened  se serdldp@Ees, comme on le voit dans lepr”
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and full consent still applies. If necessary, the sent dossier. Cependant, le principe du consente-
information given to patients should be adapted to  reelati® et complet subsiste. Si cela estes-
reflect, where necessary, the specific manner in  saire, l'informationedoanX patients devrait
which health care services are organized in groupstre adamé pour refter, le ca®c¢tgant, la struc-
of physicians or in hospitals. The patient must still  ture parécelides services de soins dans les
be given that information. According to the appel- groupes ddegins ou les institutions hospita-
lant, that was not done. Unfortunately for her argu- erels. Encore faut-il que le patientoe/e cette
ments, an analysis of the evidence does not support  information. Selon I'appelante, cela n'atit pas ~
that argument, either with respect to the presence fait. Malheureusement pour etestiops,
of D' Leblanc, the surgeon, during the operation or  I'analyse de la preuve ne supporte pasteatte pr’
with respect to DMolina-Negro’s report. tion ni quana la peEsence du chirurgien, le

D' Leblanc, durant I'opfation ni quant au rapport

du D' Molina-Negro.

D. Presence of D' Leblanc D. La présence du D Leblanc

In his judgment, Martin J. analysed the evidence Dans son jugement, le juge Martin a analys”
at length and made findings of fact, in particular  longuement la preuve. Il a effetiaines cons-
with respect to the credibility of the parties. On  tatations de fait, notamment @jdargedibilite
that point, and with all possible tact in the circum-  des paigsopos de celle-ci, avec toute lalid”
stances, he pointed to the credibility that he gave, catesse possible dans les circonstances, il a sou-
generally, to DBouchard’s version of his discus- ligté cedibilité qu'il attachait ghéralement’la
sions with Ms. Marcoux before the operation. version derpar le DBouchard quara Ses dis-
D' Bouchard’s statements and explanations coin-  cussions aved/lltcoux avant I'opfation. En
cided to a very large extent with the notes found in es fgfande partie, les affirmations et les explica-
the medical records. That factor seems to have tiond @olthard coicident avec les notes ins-
played an important role in the judge’s assessment  crites dans les dossieaumn Ce facteur pata”
of the parties’ credibility. Although in the latter  avoir @uh Ole important dans I'appciation de
part of his judgment, containing his specific find-  ladibilité des parties par le juge. Bien que, dans
ings of fact, he did not specifically find that Ila demsipartie de son jugement bon retrouve
D' Bouchard had informed Ms. Marcoux that ses constatations de fait parésulil n'ait pas
D' Leblanc would be present, that finding may beecrit” sgcifiquement que le DBouchard avait
inferred from his analysis as a whole.Bpbuchard  infornre™ MMe Marcoux de la pmSence du
clearly stated during his testimony that he told ' LBblanc, cette conclusion s'eré de I'ensemble
Ms. Marcoux that DLeblanc, a specialist in this  de son analyse. LeBBuchard a affirra claire-
type of operation at thedpital de 'Enfant-8sus, = ment dans soentoignage qu’il avait indiqua
would participate in the operation and would sec- MeMMarcoux que le D Leblanc participeraia®
tion the nerves. According to 'DBouchard, [I'ogration. Spcialiste de ce type d'epation a
Ms. Marcoux consented to his colleague being pre- opikél de 'Enfant-@5us, ce dernier effectuerait
sent and participating. Given that Martin J. found la section des nerfs. Selon [Bouhard,
that D Bouchard was credible overall, there is no M&MMarcoux avait consenti la peEsence ea la
reason to question, in this Court, whether that participation de sageellDans la mesure te
information was given. Indeed, there is circum-  juge Martin a coacla Cedibilité globale du
stantial evidence to support that finding. The T BBuchard, il n’existe aucune raison de mettre en
appellant had been operated on bylBblanc in  doute devant cette Cour que cette information ait
the past. She was familiar with the organization ot donme. Cette conclusion est d’ailleurs confor-
the health care teams at thegital de 'Enfant- ¢&e par certaineléments de preuve circonstan-
Jésus, particularly in the neurosurgery department.  cielle. L'appelante ajaitttd” opErée par le
She had been in ongoing contact, over several’ LBblanc. Elle connaissait la structure des
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years, with the specialists in maxillary surgery ancequipes de soins T'Hopital de I'Enfant-85us,

the neurologists. She knew that" Bouchard notamment en neurochirurgie. Elle avait eu des

would not be operating alone, and in fact would contacts constants pendant plusiees aret

have an assistant. Unless the trial judge’s assess- deslgtes de la chirurgie du maxillaire et avec

ments of credibility are to be questioned, that not  les neurologues. Elle savait ugolecBard ne

being the normal role of this Court as the second quexdit pas seul, mais aurait un assistant.

level of appeal, we must conclude that there is no  moins de remettre en cause les constatations du

basis for this first aspect of the argument regarding  premier juge swadibitité, ce qui ne relerait

the alleged failure to provide information. pas dierhabituel de notre Cour comme second
palier d’appel, il faut conclure que ce premier volet
du moyen relatifi'I'absence d’'information n’a pas
de fondement.

E. Information Regarding D' Molina-Negro's  E. L’information sur I’opinion du D' Molina-
Opinion Negro

The second aspect of the argument concerning Le second volet du moyen relatif 'absence 34
the lack of information is based on failure to pro-  d’information concerne les conclusions d'un rap-
vide information about the conclusions in the  port dedatin qui devint par la suite I'expert de
report by D Molina-Negro, a Mon&al neurolo-  l'appelante, le 'DMolina-Negro, neurologuea °
gist, who subsequently became the appellant's  Mahtrquanta” l'inutilite et aux risques de
expert witness, on the question of whether any pur- efagén. Tel quiindige” plus haut,
pose would be served by the operation and what me Marcoux affirme que si elle avait connu I'opi-
the risks were. As | indicated earlier, Ms. Marcoux  ni@gative de cet expert avant leation, elle
says that if she had been aware of this expert's n'y aurait jamais consenti.
negative opinion before the operation she would
never have consented to it.

A degree of confusion has made its way into the Une certaine confusion s’est gkss” dans 35
analysis of the facts concerning this consultation.  l'analyse des faits redatifstté consultation.

When the events are put back into their proper Lorsquesdmesice degvEnements esgetablie
sequence, it appears that there is no factual basis  correctement, il appert que le moyen n’a aucun
for the argument. As the trial judge found, the fondement en fait. Comme I'a conclu le premier
appellant received complete and sufficient infor-  juge, I'appelantewause information comete
mation concerning the nature and risks of the oper-  equaté sur la nature et les risques deelfap”
ation. tion.

First, it must be borne in mind that the operation Tout d’abord, il faut se souvenir que leqation 36
took place in December 1982, following consulta-  a eu lieuesembre 19823 la suite de consulta-
tions and discussions that went on for several tions et de discussions quieopludietirs mois,
months, because Ms. Marcoux was continuing to  en raison de la persistance et de I'aggravation des
experience pain and the pain had worsened. In  douleurs™@eévidrcoux. En 1981a la sugges-

1981, at the suggestion of certain physicians at the  tion de certadecims de I'idpital de I'Enfant-
Hopital de 'Enfant-@5us, she went to Moetl for ~ &sus, elleetait alBe consultera Montegal. Elle
a consultation. She had contactedMdlina-Negro  avait contaet’directement le D Molina-Negro.
directly. He then prepared a report, and we know  Celui-ci avait adigérun rapport dont on sait
that copies of the report were sent toBduchard  que des copies @i envoges au DBouchard et
and another physician at theopifal de I'Enfant- a un autre mdecin de I'tbpital de 'Enfant-8sus,
Jésus, D Goodyer. We still do not know where the  le@oodyer. On ignore toujoursidoriginal est
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original went. Ms. Marcoux did not receive a copy eallors de son entrevue avec lé Blolina-
of the report at her interview with 'DMolina-  Negro, M"e Marcoux n'avait pas il copie de ce
Negro. However, the trial judgment found that in rapport. Cependant, le jugement derpramai
the fall of 1981 D Bouchard had informed the tance constate aqul’automne 1981, le
appellant that like himself, DMolina-Negro did D Bouchard avait infore” I'appelante que,
not recommend the operation. Based on that find- comme luif MdDna-Negro ne recommandait
ing, we may say that at that point, Ms. Marcoux  pasefapon. Sur la base de ce constat, I'on peut
was already aware that'DMolina-Negro was  retenir que ™ Marcoux savait €ja a ce moment
opposed to a further operation. Even if we were to  que'l&Blina-Negro €tait en @saccord avec
assume that she had not been informed of the une auvtmtiop. Méme dans I'hypottse @
detailed content of the report, she was at least elle n'auraittpasformée du contenuedaille
aware that it was negative in terms of the further  du rapport, elle savait du moinseqatikdillait
surgery suggested. toute intervention additionnelle.

In 1982, as we have seen, discussions regarding En 1982, comme on I'a vu, les discussions sur la
the possibility of a further operation resumed. It  possibititine autre ogration ont repris. Il est
was clear that at that time, again according to the  cla& ga’ moment, toujours selon le jugement
trial judgment, Dr. Bouchard did not specifically = de preraiinstance, le TBouchard n'a pas men-
refer to Dr. Molina-Negro’s opinion, which related  tiensfEcifiquement 'avis du DMolina-Negro
to the previous condition, a disorder that was still  qui portait statl'angétieur d’'une pathologie en
unstable. Dr. Bouchard, did, however, remindevolution. Toutefois, dans des termesaelifits, le
Ms. Marcoux during that period, in different T Bouchard aurait rappef MMe Marcoux durant
words, that his Mon&dl colleagues were still  cetteendde que ses celjues de Mongadl
opposed to the operation. In addition, it is con-  demeuraientsacdord avec I'agation. Par ail-
ceded that all the risks of this surgery were leurs, il estemBngle tous les risques de cette
explained to her. The appellant in fact acknowl- intervention lui et éxpliges. L'appelante
edges that she was a very curious patient who  redodizlleurs qu’elleetait une patiente @5
asked a lot of questions. She further admitted that  curieuse et qu’elle posait beaucoup de questions.
she was given answers to those questions. De plus, elle a admis avoir obtepoksss:Le
Dr. Molina-Negro’s report, which the appellant  rapport Molina-Negro, dont I'appelante etgait ~
had been informed of a year earlier, was part of the  irdauman plusat, faisait partie de I'informa-
general information already in the appellant's pos- ti@mérgle que posslait d&ja I'appelante sur
session about her own case. son propre cas.

In the fall of 1982, according to the evidence Selon la preuve retenue par le jugd,automne
accepted by the judge, the appellant agreed to a 1982, I'appelante & agwemtgfation risqee
risky operation to try to relieve some of the pain pour tenter de soulager une partie des douleurs qui

that was making her life unbearable. The physi- lui rendaient la vie impossible. L'obligation d'in-
cians’ obligation to provide her with information  formation impesiux redecins avaieté correc-

had been properly performed. tement remplisohegard.

VI. Conclusion VI. Conclusion

None of the arguments submitted by the appel- Dans cet appel, aucun des moyens de l'appe-
lant in this appeal can succeed in law, there being  lante neepreusdutenu en droit, faute de base
no factual basis for them. The appeal must there-  factuelle. Le pourvoi doitetlenceje¢” avec
fore be dismissed with costs. emEns.

Appeal dismissed with costs. Pourvoi rejeté avec dépens.
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